
 

 
 

 
 

         2 June 2017 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 12 June 2017 

beginning at 
7:00 pm 

in the 
Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
 
TO: Councillor Daniel Clarke (Chairman) 
 Councillor Bruce Tennent (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor Margaret Allingham Councillor Janice Asman 
Councillor Carol Boulton Councillor Cynthia Garton 
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Jerry Hall 
Councillor Keith House Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Angel Myerscough Councillor Derek Pretty 

 
 
Staff Contacts: Cheryll Kemsley, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8112; 

Email: cheryll.kemsley@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

 Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437;  
Email: julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
GAETANA WISEMAN 

Performance and Governance Manager 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings 

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 
other languages, upon request. 

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public. 

 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Public Participation     
 
2. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 8)  

 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2017. 
  
3. Apologies     
 
4. Declarations of Interest      

 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

  
5. Local Area Committee report     
 
6. Presentation on Planning Guidelines     
 
7. Planning Application - Botley Park Hotel and Country Club, Winchester Road    

(Pages 9 - 30)  

 Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline planning permission O/12/71514 
which was subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment) for the extension to 
the existing hotel to provide new conference and leisure facilities, 44no. new 
bedrooms with associated car parking, proposed tennis pavilion and courts, 
wedding pergola and gazebo (Ref: R/16/79490). 

  
8. Planning application - Land Adjacent 87 High Street, West End    (Pages 31 - 48)  

 Construction of 2no. two bedroom and 2no. three bedroom flats over two floors 
with undercroft parking, bin and cycle storage and new access onto High Street. 

  
9. Planning Appeals      

 The Legal Services Manager to report:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals have been lodged:- 
 

Hillier Garden Centre, Woodhouse Lane, Botley – Appeal against refusal for 
single storey extension to main building to accommodate customer 
cafeteria, kitchen, cleaner store, toilets and baby changing facilities and 
provision of overflow car park (Ref: F/16/79511)  
 
Delegated Decision 
 
9 Nordik Gardens, Hedge End - Appeal against refusal of single storey side 
extension and raising of the roof to provide first floor accommodation (Ref: 
F/17/79849) 
 
Delegated Decision 

 
(b) that the following appeal has been allowed:- 
 



63 Upper Northam Road, Hedge End – Appeal against the Council’s refusal 
of planning permission for change of use of a garage to form 1no. bed 
dwelling and associated external alterations (Ref: F/16/79348) 
 
This was a delegated decision. 

  

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 11 September 2017 at 7:00 pm 
in the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 

Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news - 

 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 22 May 2017  (7:00 pm – 8:03 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Clarke (Chairman); Councillors Allingham, Asman, Boulton, 
Garton, Corben, Hall, House, Kyrle and Pretty 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tennent, Bloom 
and Myerscough 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

1. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
Mr Andi Saunders, treasurer of Eastleigh Men’s Shed in Hamble, asked the 
Committee if Members were aware of any sheds, barns or other ideas that the 
group could use as a workshop, as the one in Hamble was closing due to a 
breach in the covenant of the land. The Chair advised that the Committee would 
do what they could to help. 
 

2. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2017 be confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on the 
agenda. 
 

4. LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
The Chairman reported the following: 
 

Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Youth Partnership 
 
The HEWEB Youth Partnership Plan had been reviewed and would be 
presented to the Partnership at its meeting on 13 June for approval. The Plan 
contained specific responsibilities for the HEWEB Youth Leader and highlighted 
a change of format for the Partnership meetings with a proposal for key themes 
to be discussed by representatives which would result in multi - agency working. 
The Plan would be available for discussion at the September meeting of this 
Committee.  
 

1

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

Boorley Park 
 
The first residents had been moving into Boorley Park over the past few months. 
The Committee was continuing to work closely with Botley Parish Council and 
representatives of the developers especially when discussing the community 
facilities. The next meeting of the Boorley Green Working Group would be on 26 
June. The first meeting of the Boorley Green Public Art steering group had also 
been held and the group had agreed that consultation with the community would 
be a critical factor in the design and ultimately ownership of the final scheme. 
 

Hedge End Train Station 
 
The Chair was pleased to report that the improvements to the waiting shelters at 
the train station had been completed. This Committee provided partnership 
funding with South West Trains to provide this increase in covered shelters 
which had been appreciated by the growing numbers of station users. 
The upgrade to the path running parallel to the station and Cheltenham Gardens 
had also been completed. These works were also funded by this Committee.  
 

Itchen Valley Country Park 
 
As previously reported, a vision for the Country Park was being progressed. By 
way of an update, a feasibility study for the extension of the catering provision 
had commenced through the engagement of a catering specialist who was 
drafting plans for the servery. An architect’s brief was also being devised which 
would include submission of a planning application to this Committee 
provisionally in November 2017. The architect’s brief would also include an 
element of quantity surveying in order to provide some accurate costings for the 
project. Play providers were also finalising concepts for indoor play for younger 
children and outdoor play involving large play structures. An important part of this 
work was the development of business cases and this was also underway. 
 
Members would be further updated at the next team meeting on 3 July. 
 

5. ANNUAL REVIEW 2016/17 
 
Consideration was given the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda item 6) 
that highlighted the main areas of work undertaken by this Committee in 
2016/17. Details of which could be found in Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
RESOLVED -    
 
That the report be noted. 
 

6. FUNDING FOR LOCAL PROJECTS 
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager in consultation 
with the Council’s Senior Engineer, Sustainable Transport Manager, Assistant 

2



3 
 

Valuer and the Clerk of West End Parish Council that recommended funding to 
support projects which would meet identified local needs. 
 
The Local Area Manager tabled an addendum to the report which, in addition to 
the previously published recommendations 1-5, it was recommended that this 
Committee approve funding of £6,000 for replacement picnic benches at Itchen 
Valley Country Park (new recommendation 6). The current benches could no 
longer be repaired and therefore replacements had been recommended which 
would be located in the most popular areas near to the Highwood Barn. The 
benches would come from this Committee’s reserves.  
 
RESOLVED -    
 
(1) That the funding of up to £2,500 from revenue for a dropped kerb 

scheme on Wessex Road adjacent to Linden Court be approved; 
 

(2) That funding of up to £10,000 from reserves for 2 parking feasibility 
studies at Ratcliffe Road, Hedge End and the Midlands Estate, West 
End be approved; 

   
(3) That funding of £1,000 for a defibrillator at Freegrounds School, 

Hedge End be approved; 

 
(4) That funding of £12,500 for improvements to Shamblehurst Lane bus 

stops be approved;  
 

(5) That the allocation of developer’s contributions of £10,000 towards 
the tennis court project at Moorgreen Recreation Ground be 
approved; and 
 

(6)  That funding of £6,000 for replacement picnic benches at Itchen 
Valley Country Park be approved. 

 
7. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

 
The Chair advised the Committee that there was an additional Outside Body to 
consider, the Boorley Green Working Party, which had been convened in the last 
year. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That appointments to outside bodies for 2017/18 be as follows: 
 
Hedge End, West End and Botley Youth Partnership  
– Councillor Pretty 
 
North Whiteley Development Forum  
– Councillor Clarke 
 
Wildern Community Management Committee  

3



4 
 

– Councillors Garton and Clarke 
 
Hedge End, West End and Botley Business Community Group 
– Councillor Pretty 
 
Boorley Green Working Party 
– Councillors Clarke and Kyrle 
 

8. APPOINTMENTS TO (A) REGULATORY PANEL; AND (B) COMMUNITY 
GRANTS SUB GROUP 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That appointments for 2017/18 be made as follows: 
 
(a) Regulatory Panel - That all Members of the Committee be appointed 

to serve on the Local Area Regulatory Panel, as a ‘pool’ from which 
three Members could be called upon as required. 

 
(b) Community Grants Sub-Group - Councillors Clarke, Garton, Hall and 

Pretty. 
 

9. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES 
 
Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines that had 
to be taken into account when determining planning applications; in particular the 
issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  This was set against the 
broader policy framework. 
 

10. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO THE NORTH AND EAST OF BOORLEY 
GREEN, WINCHESTER ROAD, BOTLEY, SOUTHAMPTON 
 
The Committee considered the report of the Head of Development Management 
(Agenda item 11) concerning a  Reserved Matters application (pursuant to 
outline planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to an Environmental 
Impact Assessment) for the mixed use and assisted living elements of the 
masterplan, comprising 933sqm of employment floorspace (B1), a 378sqm 
convenience foodstore (A1 Use Class), 389sqm of flexible retail floorspace 
(A1/A2/A3) and 68 residential units for older persons (C3 Use Class) with 
associated parking, landscaping, drainage, road infrastructure and pedestrian 
and cycle links (Ref: R/16/79505). 
 
The Committee was advised the following updates:  
 
Amendments to the proposal  

 Amended landscape, layout and elevations - received 12.5.17 

 Amended ground floor layout for older person’s accommodation - received 
18.5.17 

 Drainage Overland flow rates - received 19.5.17 

 Amended Indicative Drainage Strategy – received 19.5.17 

4



5 
 

 Amended elevations for older person’s accommodation  – received 
22.5.17 

 
Consultation responses 
Design, Sustainability and Landscaping – some improvements made but further 
changes required to the landscaping scheme. 
 
Biodiversity – Eastleigh Borough Council required three forms of naturalised 
drainage, but only one is apparent and there needed to be at least some 
evidence of filtration through vegetation within the final stage.  There should be 
ten species within the indigenous hedgerow, rather than five as currently shown. 
 
Transportation and Engineering – No objection in principle on highway 
grounds.    Access to the development had previously been subject to a 
preliminary design check at the outline stage, and the internal layout is sufficient 
for purpose to allow two-way traffic flows and the turning of vehicles.  Cycle and 
pedestrian access was generally acceptable, however, would be beneficial for 
2m pedestrian link to north of convenience store to be widened to 3m to enable 
pedestrian and cycle use. 
 
Trees – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
HCC Flood and Water Management – the proposals for surface water drainage 
met the current standards/best practice in relation to surface water drainage.  
 
Southern Water – Amended drainage details were acceptable in principle.  
However, no new soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface 
water retaining or conveying features should be located within 5m of a public 
sewer (also adoptable), rising main or water main.  No development or tree 
planting should be located within 3m either side of the centreline of the 
public/adoptable sewer.  Previous comments remained unchanged. 
 
Environment Agency – no further comments to make. 
 
Revised recommendation 
Amended Condition 10 –  
 
‘With the exception of the Overnight Bedroom, the occupancy of the apartments 
hereby permitted shall be limited to one or any of the following; i) persons aged 
60 years or over; ii) persons aged 55 years or over and living as part of a single 
household with a person or persons aged 60 years or over; iii) persons who were 
living in one of the apartments hereby permitted as part of a single household 
with a person or persons aged 60 years or over who have since died. 
Reason:  In order for the Local Planning Authority to further control the type of 
occupancy of this building as the provisions for parking and communal garden 
space are adequate for this restricted form of accommodation, but would not be 
sufficient to support the amount of accommodation hereby approved in an open 
and unrestricted use and so would otherwise conflict with the Council’s adopted 
supplementary planning guidance on these matters set out by Eastleigh Borough 

5



6 
 

Council’s Residential Parking Standards SPD, adopted January 2009, and the 
Quality Places SPD adopted in November 2011.’ 
 
Deletion of Condition 14 - As the amended ground floor layout for the older 
person’s accommodation no longer showed a proposed Combined Heat and 
Power Plant, Condition 14 was no longer required. 
 
Eight Members voted to defer the application to give further consideration to the 
mix of uses, the relationship between them and the means of access to the local 
centre; and two Members abstained.  
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the recommendation be DEFERRED to give further consideration to 
the mix of uses, the relationship between them and the means of access to 
the local centre. 
 
(NOTE: A Botley Parish Council Councillor spoke in objection to the application 
citing a number of issues including accesses, traffic, and air quality; and the 
agent spoke in support.) 
 

11. PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The Legal Services Manager reported:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:- 
 

3 Beacon Mews, Beacon Road, West End, Southampton - Appeal against 
the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a first floor front extension 
(F/17/79755). 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 
 
Green Acres, Blind Lane, West End, Southampton - Appeal against the 
Council’s refusal of planning permission for the construction of a detached 
garage with first floor accommodation above (Ref: F/17/79839).  
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

Land Rear of 18-20a High Street, Botley, Southampton - Appeal against 
the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the construction of 3 no. 
two bedroom apartments into 2 no. two storey blocks with associated 
parking, bin and cycle storage and amenity space, following demolition of 
existing outbuilding (Ref: C/16/79036) 
 
This was a Delegated Decision. 

 
(b) that the following appeal had been allowed:- 
 

Christian Meeting Hall, Granada Road, Hedge End  - appeal against the 
Council’s refusal to grant planning permission for one two-bed dwelling, 

6



7 
 

with associated amenity space and parking, following demolition of 
existing hall (Ref: F/16/78479) 
 
This was a delegated decision 

 
(c) that the following appeal had been dismissed:- 
 

41 Lower St Helens Road, Hedge End – Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal to grant planning permission to undertake work to a tree protected 
by a Tree Preservation Order (Ref: T/16/79319) 
 

This was a delegated decision. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
M6005 
 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



12/06/2017 
______________________________________________________________ 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR DECISION 

 
HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY Monday 12 June 2017 
Case Officer: Liz Harrison 
 
SITE:  Botley Park Hotel and Country Club, Winchester Road,  
  Southampton, SO32 2UA 
 
Ref. R/16/79490 Received: 04/11/2016 (25/11/2016) 
 
APPLICANT:  Macdonald Hotels & Resorts Ltd 
 
PROPOSAL:  Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline  
   planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to 
   an Environmental Impact Assessment) for the  
   extension to the existing hotel to provide new  
   conference and leisure facilities, 44no. new bedrooms 
   with associated car parking, proposed tennis pavilion 
   and courts, wedding pergola and gazebo. 
 
AMENDMENTS: 23/05/2017 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
APPROVE THE RESERVED MATTERS 
 
Subject to i) consideration of outstanding consultee responses, and ii) 
any necessary condition additions or amendments, including updating 
the list of approved plans then delegate to Head of Development 
Management, in consultation with Chair, Vice Chair & Local Ward 
Members. 

 

 
 

CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 

 

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 
with the following plans numbered: 101 Rev B, 102 Rev G, PS01, 
PS02, PS03, PS04, PS05, PS06, PS07, PS08, PS09, PS10, PS11, 
PS12, PS13 Rev E, PS14 Rev B, PS15 Rev A, PS16 Rev A, PS17 Rev 
A, PS18, PS19 Rev A, PS20, PS21, PS22, PS23, PS24 Rev B, PS25 
Rev A, PS26 Rev A, PS27 Rev B, PS28, PS29 Rev A, PS30 Rev A, 
PS31, PS32, PS33, PS34, PS35, PS36, PS37 Rev A  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 

 

9

Agenda Item 7



(2)  The Arboricultural Impact Assessment compiled by Middlemarch 
Environmental (Report No: RT-MME-124876-02 rev A, May 2017) must 
be adhered to in full, and may only be modified subject to written 
agreement from the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality. 

 
(3)  No development shall commence until a site meeting has taken place 

with the site manager, the retained consulting arboriculturalist and a 
representative from the Local Planning Authority. Work cannot 
commence until the Local Planning Authority officer has inspected and 
approved the proposed tree protection.  Once approved no access by 
vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials 
shall take place within the fenced area.  The fencing shall be retained in 
its approved form for the duration of the work.  All other aspects of the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment will be addressed at this meeting.  
Reason:  To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality. 

 
(4)  Notwithstanding the landscaping details approved, prior to any 

development above slab level taking place, a fully detailed landscaping 
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The scheme shall cover all soft landscaping and 
boundary treatments and provide details of timings for all landscaping 
and any future maintenance and management.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents. 

 
(5)  Notwithstanding the submitted landscaping plans, no development 

above slab level shall take place until details of the proposed hard 
surfacing materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The submission shall include details of 
how the parking spaces are to be demarcated. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interests of 
the amenities of the area. 

 
(6)  No development above slab level shall take place until tree pit details 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.   
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the longevity of the new 
landscaping. 

 
(7)  All hard and soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment 

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the 
appropriate British Standard. For a period of 5 years after planting, any 
trees or plants which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or 
defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with 

10



others of the same species, size and number as originally approved in 
the landscaping scheme. 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents. 

 
(8)  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until 

the areas shown on the approved plan for the parking of vehicles shall 
have been made available, surfaced and marked out. The parking 
areas shall then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose 
at all times.  
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 

 
(9)  Prior to their installation details of the proposed entrance barriers shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance. 

 
(10)  Details of any floodlighting to be installed at the tennis courts shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior 
to its installation.  Any floodlighting installed shall be in accordance with 
the approved details. 
Reason:  In the interests of residential amenity. 

 
(11)  Details of any external lighting to be installed, including within the car 

park, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, prior to its installation.  Any lighting installed shall be in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason:  In the interests of residential amenity. 
 

(12)  Prior to its installation details of the proposed pumping station shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason:  To limit the impact of the development on the locality and to 
ensure satisfactory provision of foul water drainage. 

 
Notes to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes 
a positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to 
achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all 
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 
 
Under the Town and Country Planning England Regulations 2012, a fee 
is required for Discharge of Condition Applications. N.B. Conditions not 
fully discharged invalidate the planning permission. 
 

11



The development hereby permitted shall comply with the conditions 
imposed on the grant of the outline planning permission reference 
O/12/71514 which was permitted on 28 November 2013. 

 

 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major 

development which is contrary to the Development Plan and is 
controversial.         

 
The site and its surroundings 
 
2. The Boorley Green development site, within the parish of Botley lies to 

the east of the Borough and extends to approximately 81 hectares. It 
comprises a large, irregularly shaped plot of land bounded to the west 
by the B3354 Winchester Road and to the south by Maddoxford Lane. 
The northern and eastern boundaries are demarcated by the 
meandering course of Ford Lake which is a tributary to the River 
Hamble and a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 
characterised by mature woodland. Beyond Ford Lake lies Chancellors 
Lane. To the south and west, the rear of a number of residential 
properties bound the site along Maddoxford Lane and Winchester 
Road. 

 
3. The majority of the site (59.9ha) is occupied by the former Botley Park 

golf course attached to the Botley Park Hotel and Country Club (4ha), 
which comprises a modern building complex with conference and 
leisure facilities, associated car parking and landscaping. The site also 
includes Braxells Farm (1.8ha) and associated buildings along the 
western boundary whilst the south eastern section of the site comprises 
a series of pasture fields associated with Maddoxford Farm (9.7ha). 
Near the centre of the site lies another SINC – Botley Park Wood which 
is a 1ha area of ancient woodland, and also covered by a Tree 
Preservation Order.  Gas and oil pipelines run through the southern part 
of the site and require an easement around them within which there can 
be no development. 

 
4. This reserved matters application relates to the hotel site, which now 

measures approximately 4.5ha in size.  It is for the extension of the 
existing Botley Park Hotel and Spa to provide new conference and 
leisure facilities, 44 new bedrooms and car parking.  The existing 
access to the hotel from Winchester Road will be retained and a new 
access from within the Boorley Park development to the west will be 
created. 

 
Description of application 
 
5. The hotel currently consists of 130 bedrooms, a restaurant and bar, a 

conference and function suite, health and leisure facilities (including a 

12



swimming pool and sauna and steam room, gym and studios), together 
with tennis and squash courts and car parking.  This reserved matters 
application is for the extension and improvement of the facilities at the 
Botley Park Hotel and Space to provide: 

 A new gym and studios following internal re-arrangement. 

 A new dedicated spa entrance and reception, with new bar and 
lounge area.  

 A new beauty and treatment suite with improved changing 
facilities, relaxation spaces and treatment facilities. 

 A new 20m swimming pool with a thermal suite, external hydro 
pool and changing areas. 

 33 new bedrooms in an extension of the existing eastern 
bedroom window. 

 11 new bedrooms in an extension of the northern bedroom wing 

 Small expansion and interior remodelling of the conference and 
meeting rooms. 

 Extensions to the restaurant and function rooms to cater for 
larger weddings and conferences and provide a private dining 
area. 

 Re-landscaping of the hotel grounds with new entrance gates, 
enhanced hotel entrance and wedding pergola. 

 Relocation of the tennis courts to the south-eastern corner of the 
site and provision of new tennis pavilion. 

 202 additional car parking spaces. 
 
6. The existing access to the hotel from Winchester Road will be retained 

and a new access from within the Boorley Park development to the east 
will be created. 

 
7. This application seeks approval for the following reserved matters in 

relation to the various elements of the hotel extension referred to 
above: 

 Appearance 

 Landscaping 

 Layout 

 Scale 
 
8. The existing hotel is a modern complex consisting of a number of 

different elements built on a gradually sloping site from west to east in a 
range of architectural styles.  The various extensions have been 
designed to reflect the scale and appearance of the existing part of the 
building to which they are attached, ranging in height from single storey 
elements to 3 storey extensions.  The main hotel entrance will remain 
on the south-west side of the hotel facing the access road and car park, 
with the separate health and leisure club entrance being to the north-
east of the building. 

 
9. The proposed layout shows the retention of 176 existing car parking 

spaces, an extension to the hotel car park to provide a further 112 

13



spaces and a 90 space car park for the leisure club accessed from the 
new residential development to the east, providing 378 spaces in total.  
In addition 102 cycle parking spaces are provided, located along the 
path leading from the leisure club car park to the leisure club entrance 
or adjacent to the hotel service yard. 

 
10. A pedestrian and cycle link is provided through the southern part of the 

site, linking the new residential development to the east with the new 
pedestrian/cycle route running along Winchester Road to the west, to 
link in with the improvements required by the S106 legal agreement 
associated with the outline planning permission. 
 

11. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 
assessments which have been updated as necessary throughout the 
course of the application: 

 Design & Access Statement 

 Planning Statement 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment  

 Sustainability Report, Checklist & Action Plan  

 Ecological Mitigation and Management Plan 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Pre-Development 
Arboricultural Survey 

 
12. The outline application was supported by an Environmental Statement.  

It is not considered that there has been a significant change in 
circumstances that requires this reserved matters application to be 
supported by a further Environmental Statement. 

 
13. Similarly at outline stage screening was also undertaken to establish 

whether a Habitats Regulations Assessment is required. It was 
concluded that, with the mitigation proposed and conditions to control 
impacts, no significant likely impacts on any European Designated sites 
would occur as a result of the development and a full HRA was not 
required.  There has not been a significant change in circumstances 
since then that warrants a different conclusion being reached now. 

 
Relevant planning history 
 
14. The relevant planning history in relation to this site is as follows: 
 

 O/12/71514 - Outline application with all matters reserved 
(except for access) for the demolition of golf driving range shelter 
and groundsman's equipment store and the development of 1400 
homes with access from Winchester Road and Maddoxford Lane 
(with upgrades to the Winchester Road/Woodhouse Lane 
Junction and approaches and Maypole Roundabout), 
construction of Sunday's Hill Bypass and approaches, extension 
to existing hotel (including new conference and leisure facilities, 
44 no. new bedrooms and car parking), creation of new local 

14



centre (incorporating energy centre, pub, assisted living 
accommodation, retail and employment floorspace, including 
change of use of Braxells Farm House to employment), primary 
school, multi-purpose community building, sports and open 
space facilities including play areas, allotments and Multi-Use 
Games Area, and changing facilities, together with construction 
of roads, footpaths (including diversion of Footpath No. 2) and 
cycle ways, and pumping stations – granted 28.11.13 

 

 R/14/74872 - Reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 
O/12/71514 for erection of sports pavilion play area and laying 
out of playing pitches together with access, landscaping, car 
parking, cycle parking and bin storage, diversion of public 
footpath no. 2 and sustainable urban drainage – approved 
31.10.14 

 

 R/15/77552 - Reserved Matters Application (Pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for the spine road 
infrastructure together with foul and surface water drainage 
networks, landscaping and associated works. This application 
includes the diversion of Footpath No. 2 – approved 19.2.16 

 

 R/15/77595 – Reserved Matters Application (Pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for the erection of 441no. 
dwellings, car parking, road infrastructure, pedestrian/cycle links, 
foul and surface water drainage networks, landscaping and 
associated works (phase 1).  This application includes the 
diversion of Footpath No.2 – approved 6.5.16 

 

 R/16/79470 - Reserved matters application (pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to an 
Environmental Impact Assessment) for the erection of 889no. 
dwellings, community building, multi-use games area, land for 
use as allotments, open space, road infrastructure, pedestrian 
and cycle links, foul and surface water drainage networks, 
associated landscaping, car parking, changes to levels, 
boundary treatments and diversion of Botley Footpath Number 2 
– committee resolution on 27.3.17 to grant reserved matters 
approval subject to expiry of publicity period on 29.3.17, receipt 
of satisfactory amended/additional plans/information; 
consideration of outstanding consultee responses and any new 
issues raised before publicity period expired; satisfactory 
resolution of any additional mitigation against adverse impact on 
the Solent and Southampton Water SPA (if required) and 
finalisation of conditions. 
 

 R/16/79505 - Reserved Matters Application (Pursuant to outline 
planning permission O/12/71514 which was subject to an 

15



Environmental Impact Assessment) for the mixed use and 
assisted living elements of the masterplan, comprising 933sqm 
of employment floorspace (B1), a 378sqm convenience 
foodstore (A1 Use Class), 389sqm of flexible retail floorspace 
(A1/A2/A3) and 68 residential units for older persons (C3 Use 
Class) with associated parking, landscaping, drainage, road 
infrastructure and pedestrian and cycle links – currently under 
consideration. 

 

 V/17/79954 – Variation to S106 Agreement (O/12/71514) dated 
28 November 2013 to amend the timing of delivery of bus service 
provision, Botley Footpath works, Maypole Roundabout works 
and Changing Facility Building and Community Building as set 
out in letter from WYG dated 03 Feb 2017 – currently under 
consideration. 

 

15. The S106 legal agreement associated with the outline planning 
permission secured the following in relation to the wider site: 

 30% affordable housing 

 Employment and Skills Plan 

 Travel Plan 

 Ecological Monitoring and Management Plan 

 Ecological Protection and Mitigation Plan 

 Construction Management Plan 

 Lorry Routing Agreement 

 Accesses off Winchester Road and Maddoxford Lane 

 Highway works at Maddoxford Lane, Maypole Roundabout, 
Winchester Road, Woodhouse Lane, Sundays Hill Bypass and 
Botley Footpath 

 Provision of bus service 

 Provision of primary school site 

 Provision of open space, play areas, playing fields and Multi 
Use Games Area then transfer to Council 

 Provision of Community Building and Changing Facility or a 
financial penalty 

 Use of a sustainable drainage system 

 Prevention of disposing of unallocated parking spaces to any 
owner 

 Community use agreements for Botley Park Hotel & Country 
Club 

 Transfer of SINC, Semi-Natural Area and Pylands Lane 
Woodland to Council 

 Financial contributions towards air quality monitoring, Botley 
footpath works, community development worker, Education 
and Children’s Services, highways/sustainable transport 
improvements, Junction 8 improvements, street tree 
maintenance, economic development, health facilities, open 
space maintenance, play equipment provision and 
maintenance, public art, SINC maintenance, SPA Disturbance 

16



Mitigation Project, Pylands Lane woodland maintenance, 
Manor Farm Bat enhancement, post-occupancy evaluation of 
sustainability study and household waste recycling facility. 

 

Representations received 
 
16. 2 letters of objection were received from adjoining residents and those 

living locally with concerns relating to: 
 Proximity of car park and cycle path to Braxells Lodge, in 

particular the cycle path which will adversely affect privacy, 
security, traffic and noise levels. 

 Loss of mature trees and hedgerows, including large oak tree for 
leisure extension.  Should all be replaced. 

 
Consultation responses 
 
17. Design, Sustainability & Landscaping 

Original Submission 
 Building elevations acceptable. 
 Need confirmation of which trees to be planted where, tree pit 

details and amendments to hard landscaping scheme. 
 Need direct footpath/cycle link from heart of new residential 

development to footpath to Hedge End station. 
 
Amended Sustainability information 

 All the Environmentally Sustainable Development SPD 
requirements are being satisfactorily targeted. 

 
Amended plans - Comments awaited. 

 
18. Biodiversity 

Original Submission – Holding Objection 
 Very unclear which trees are to be removed and whether work 

has already been undertaken.  Need to know if the trees to be 
removed have been checked for bat roosts. 

 2 species poor hedges will be removed, with a replacement 
hedge around much of the boundary.  This should be indigenous 
and species rich. 

 It appears that there is only 1 form of filtration in the drainage 
system, when 3 are required. 

 
Amended plans - Comments awaited. 

 
19. Transportation & Engineering/HCC Highways  

Original submission 

 Level of car parking and new access from the east are 
acceptable.  

 The plans do not show foot/cycleway links to the hotel complex 
to encourage sustainable travel for staff and local users.   

 Additional cycle parking is also required. 

17



 Additional short link paths required between ends of car park 
aisles and paths 

 Footpath/cycleway at southern end of site is too close to parking 
spaces, should be 2m separation.   

 Surface water drainage details required. 

 Footpath within site along main Winchester Road frontage needs 
widening and general refurbishment to improve capacity. 

 
Amended plans - Comments awaited. 

 
20. Trees 

Original submission – No objection subject to conditions. 
 

Amended plans - Comments awaited. 
 
21. Health Communities Team – this will be a privately run facility with 

affordable access for residents of the new housing and patrons of the 
hotel, but make the following comments: 

 Hydro pool should not be accessible from outside the complex 
and landscaping around pool should be evergreen to reduce 
plant/tree debris. 

 4 tennis courts might be preferable if applicant intends to set up 
a community club.  Concern open-sided tennis pavilion could 
attract anti-social behaviour. 

 
22. Environmental Health - No objection as all concerns are dealt with via 

conditions on the outline permission. 
 
23. Direct Services – No objections 
 
24. HCC Flood & Water Management Team - We did not provide 

comments in relation to the outline application and presume the general 
principles of the strategy were agreed at that stage.  The discharge 
rates are equivalent to the existing discharge from the site.  We 
understand EBC have their own requirement in relation to provision of 
water treatment stages for these proposals.  The information confirms 
the maintenance of the SuDS feature and surface water drainage will 
be via a private management company, we presume as part of the 
overall management of the site. 

 
25. HCC Archaeology – No objection - understand all outstanding 

archaeological matters secured by the outline planning permission have 
been addressed. 

 
26. HCC Rights of Way - Comments awaited 
 
27. Crime Prevention Officer – No comments received 
 
28. Environment Agency – No comments to make on this application. 
 

18



29. Southern Water  
Original submission – the permeable paving cannot be within 7m of the 
trunk water main, no new soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or 
any other surface water retaining or conveying features should be 
within 5m of a public gravity sewer, rising main or water main.  The 
connection to the public sewerage network can be carried out once the 
requisition works to convey the foul flows from the entire proposed 
development (designed under our sewer requisition scheme reference 
S98.000151) are completed.  Reference should be made to “A Guide to 
Tree Planting near water Mains and Sewers” with regards to any 
Landscaping proposals. 

 
Amended plans - Comments awaited 

 
30. Natural England – do not consider that this application poses any likely 

or significant risk to those features of the natural environment for which 
we would otherwise provide a more detailed consultation response and 
so do not wish to make specific comment on the details of this 
consultation. 

 
31. Ramblers – how is it intended to ensure that the routes shown on the 

plans to be created for use for the public and the others that have 
recently been constructed along Winchester Road will become adopted 
public highways? 
 

32. British Horse Society – No comments received. 
 
33. Botley Parish Council  

 No foul drainage information is provided.  Before permission is 
granted applicant should be required to confirm that foul water 
drainage infrastructure for proposed works will connect to the 
new trunk sewer and not the hotel’s existing sewerage system. 

 Hotel should arrange for all hotel’s waste water systems to be 
connected to new trunk sewer to increase capacity in existing 
residential sewer network. 

 No information about provision or management of SUDs. 
 Additional landscaping required between car park extension and 

neighbouring properties on Winchester Road to reduce noise 
and visual intrusion. 

 Public consultation was insufficient 
 
34. Botley Parish Action Group 

 Development will add to greatly increase traffic load from new 
developments, but pleased to see direct access from new 
housing. 

 Large number of trees removed, would like confirmation that 
same number of similar types will be replaced around the 
development. 

 Request that whole hotel complex be connected to the new 
sewer. 

19



 Any increase in foul water to existing drainage system would 
lead to serious effects on health and welfare for residents.  Seek 
assurances this will not happen before permission is given. 

 
Policy context:  designation applicable to site 

 Countryside 

 SINC 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
35. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 

‘Framework’) states that (as required by statute) applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Paragraph 14 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development and states that (unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise) development proposals which accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. Where the development plan is 
absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission 
(again, unless material considerations indicate otherwise) should be 
granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits; or specific policies 
in the Framework indicate development should be restricted (paragraph 
14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now 
deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should 
be given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree 
of consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in 
the plan accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given. 

 
36. Three dimensions of sustainability given in paragraph 7 are to be 

sought jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land 
availability); social (providing housing, creating high quality environment 
with accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, 
protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment) whilst 
paragraph 10 advises that plans and decisions need to take local 
circumstances into account, so they respond to the different 
opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different areas. 

 

37. Paragraph 17 sets out 12 core planning principles that include; 
 

 always seeking to secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing occupiers of land 

 
38. Paragraphs 56 to 61 give importance to good design as part of 

sustainable built development.  
 

39. Paragraph 69 – Decisions should aim to achieve places which promote 
meetings between members of the community, safe and accessible 
environments and developments containing clear and legible pedestrian 

20



routes, high quality public space which encourages the active and 
continual use of public areas. 

 

40. Paragraph 70 – Decisions should plan for the provision and use of 
shared space, community facilities etc. and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing and other uses. 

 

41. Paragraph 73 – Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities 
for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities. Information gained from 
assessments should determine what open space, sports and 
recreational provision are needed. 

 

42. Paragraph 103 – Ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
 

43. Paragraphs 109 -108 protect biodiversity and seek net gains where 
possible. 

 

44. Paragraphs 123 – Avoid, mitigate and reduce noise which gives rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life. 

 
45. Paragraph 192 – The right information is crucial to good decision-

taking, particularly where formal assessments are required (such as 
EIA/HRA/FRA). 

 

46. Paragraph 196 indicates that planning law requires that planning 
applications are dealt with in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is such a 
material consideration. 

 

47. Paragraph 203 - LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable 
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions 
or planning obligations. 

 

48. Paragraph 216 - Decision-takers can give weight to relevant policies in 
emerging plans according to the stage of preparation, the extent to 
which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies and the 
degree of consistency to the relevant policies in the emerging plan to 
the policies in the NPPF.  

 
Planning Practice Guidance  
 
49. Where material, this guidance on air quality, good design, material 

considerations, flood risk, contamination, noise, open space, 
recreational facilities, natural environment, planning obligations, travel 
plans, transport assessments, water supply and wastewater provision 
should be afforded weight in the consideration of planning applications.  

 
The Development Plan 
 

21



50. At the current time the Development Plan for the borough comprises 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) and the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013). 

 
Saved Policies of the Adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(EBLP 2001-2011)  
 
51. The key policies of the adopted local plan are: 
 

 1.CO – Development in the countryside  

 18.CO – Impact on landscape character  

 23.NC – Protection of Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINCs). 

 25.NC – Promotion of biodiversity 

 28.ES – Waste collection and storage 

 30.ES – Noise-Sensitive Development 

 34.ES – Requirement to reduce greenhouse gases 

 36.ES - Lighting 

 45.ES – Sustainable drainage requirements 

 59.BE – High quality design  

 100.T – Sustainable transport  

 102.T – Safe accesses 

 104.T – Off-highway parking 

 186.IN – Provision of community facilities 

 190.IN –  Infrastructure provision 
 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013  
 
52. The application site lies outside a Minerals Safeguarding Area. 
 
Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2019 
 
53. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 

examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. 

 
54. The Submitted Local Plan has not been formally withdrawn and 

therefore remains a material planning consideration.  The weight that 
can be attributed to the draft policies of the Submitted Eastleigh Local 
Plan 2011-2029 is however extremely limited. The Council consulted on 
the Issues and Options Document (December 2015) from 23 December 
2015 until 17 February 2016.  Following the completion of the 
consultation the Council are now undertaking the additional technical 
work required to inform the next formal stage in the plan-making 
process.   

 
55. The most relevant draft policies of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough 

Local Plan 2011-2029 are:  
 

22



 S1 – Sustainable Development 

 S5 – Green Infrastructure  

 S8 –  Strategic footpath, cycleway, bridleway links 

 S11 – Nature Conservation  

 DM1 - General criteria for new development  

 DM2 – Environmentally sustainable development 

 DM5 – Sustainable surface water management and watercourse 
management 

 DM9 - Nature Conservation  

 DM23 – General development criteria - transport 

 DM24 – Parking 

 DM32 – Provision of recreation and open space facilities with 
new development 

 DM35 – Community, leisure and cultural facilities 

 BO1 – Land north and east of Boorley Green allocation 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
56. Relevant documents are: 
 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally 
Sustainable Development (March 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning document : Biodiversity (December 
2009) 

 
Assessment of proposal: Development plan and / or legislative 
background 
 
57. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a 
local planning authority determining an application to do so in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
58. The Development Plan in this case comprises the saved policies of the 

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (adopted 2013). 
 

59. In terms of emerging policy, the Submitted Eastleigh Local Plan 2011-
2019 (comprising: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2011-2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule of 
Proposed Minor Changes) was submitted to the Secretary of State in 
July 2014 and, following examination hearings in November 2014, the 
Inspector issued his final report on 11 February 2015. The final report 
recommended non-adoption on the basis of the plan being unsound, 
largely due to its inadequate provision for new housing.  It can therefore 
be considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of 

23



this application.  The emerging work on the new Local Plan to 2036 is 
also a material consideration of limited weight. 
 

60. In terms of other material planning considerations, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance constitute 
material considerations of significant weight. 

 
The Principle of Development 
 
61. The site is located within the countryside in the adopted local plan but is 

part of the site allocated for housing and associated facilities and 
services under draft policy BO1 of the submitted local plan.  Outline 
planning permission for up to 1400 dwellings, an extension to the 
existing hotel, the creation of a new local centre, assisted living 
accommodation, primary school, multi-purpose community building, 
sports and open space facilities, allotments and Multi-Use Games Area 
(MUGA) and changing facilities and associated infrastructure, together 
with new vehicular accesses off Winchester Road and Maddoxford 
Lane was granted in November 2013.  The principle of extending the 
hotel to provide new conference and leisure facilities and 44 new 
bedrooms has therefore been established and cannot be reconsidered 
as part of this application.  As such the proposed development is 
acceptable in principle.  Issues of highways impact, ecology, 
archaeology, drainage, contaminated land, noise and vibration, dust 
and protection of trees were considered at the outline stage and 
covered by submission of documents as part of the outline application, 
conditions attached to the outline permission, or obligations contained 
within the associated S106 legal agreement. 

 
Sustainable Development 
 
62. The outline application considered matters of sustainability and 

concluded that the development would fulfill an economic role by 
expanding the quality and choice of housing, a social role by providing 
for clearly needed market and affordable housing together with social 
and community facilities not presently available within Boorley Green, 
and, with mitigation, a satisfactory environmental role.  As such the 
proposed development is considered to be sustainable in principle.  The 
detailed matters arising from hotel extension are covered below in the 
sections relating to the reserved matters that are now to be considered 
– appearance, layout, scale and landscaping. 

 
Appearance 
 
63. The existing hotel is a modern complex consisting of a number of 

different elements that have been built in a range of architectural styles 
as the hotel has been extended over time.  The various extensions now 
proposed have been designed to reflect their location and be in keeping 
with the appearance of the existing part of the building to which they are 
attached.   

24



 
64. The main hotel entrance will remain on the south-west side of the hotel, 

with an enhanced visual presence due to the proposed alterations.  The 
extensions to the eastern and northern bedroom wings have been 
designed as linear extensions of those parts of the building, as has the 
small extension to the meeting rooms on the front elevations.  These 
elements are proposed to use red brick, some render and tiled roofs to 
match those used on the adjoining parts of the hotel.  
 

65. The leisure club and function suite extensions are located to the rear of 
the hotel and have been designed with a more contemporary style 
using flat roofs, expanses of structural glazing, render and ceramic 
cladding.  With the new residential development of Boorley Park the 
rear of the hotel will be more open to public views and these extensions 
will enable the hotel to have a more outward facing elevation looking 
towards the new community, and providing a separate entrance for the 
spa and leisure facilities. 
 

66. The application also includes a tennis pavilion and wedding pergola.  
The proposed tennis pavilion is a single storey, open-sided, render and 
boarded structure to be located in the south-eastern corner of the 
enlarged hotel site adjacent to the relocated tennis courts.  The 
wedding pergola is an open-sided cast-iron decorative feature near the 
Winchester Road entrance to the hotel grounds. 
 

67. It is considered that the design of the extensions and free-standing 
structures is acceptable and would give rise to an acceptable form of 
development with respect to appearance. 

 
Layout 
 
68. The existing access to the hotel grounds from Winchester Road is to be 

retained, with the hotel car park extended to the south-east, wrapping 
around the extension to the eastern bedroom wing.  In addition a new 
vehicular access is proposed on the eastern boundary, off the main 
infrastructure route through the residential development of Boorley 
Park, providing access to a car park for the leisure and spa facilities.  A 
pedestrian and cycle path is proposed connecting the residential 
development to the east and the new pedestrian and cycle path running 
along Winchester Road towards Botley Footpath No.1.   

 
69. It is considered that a sufficient level of car parking has been provided 

for the proposed facilities (378 spaces in total), however, concerns were 
raised about the level of cycle parking, the proximity of the parking 
spaces to the pedestrian/cycle path, the need to provide additional 
circulation paths within the grounds and the need for the 
pedestrian/cycle to have connect to the other paths running to the east 
and south-east into the Boorley Park development.  Amended plans 
have been submitted to address these points and the third party 
comments about the proximity of the path to Braxells Lodge.  The plans 

25



are currently out for consultation and Members will be updated at 
committee. 
 

70. The pedestrian and cycle path running east/west through the site is a 
key link from the wider Boorley Park development to Winchester Road.  
It is shown as a public route on the plans and it is currently being 
considered how best to ensure that this route is publically available in 
the future. 

 
71. The extensions are located to the front, rear and side of the existing 

hotel, providing an enhanced hotel entrance on the southern elevation 
facing the access road and car park, together with a new entrance to 
the improved spa and leisure facilities facing out to the new residential 
development of Boorley Park.  To accommodate these improvements 
the tennis courts are being relocated to the south eastern corner of the 
site, together with a new pavilion. 
 

72. While the extensions to the hotel consist of a number of different 
elements they are sited so as to provide logical extensions to the 
bedrooms and meeting rooms while providing new and enhanced 
leisure, spa and function facilities. 

 
73. It is considered that subject to the amended plans satisfactorily 

addressing the points set out above it should be possible to ensure that 
the proposals would give rise to an acceptable form of development 
with respect to layout. 

 
Scale 
 
74. As stated above, the existing hotel is a modern complex consisting of a 

number of different elements built on a gradually sloping site from west 
to east.  The various different extensions have been designed to reflect 
the scale of the existing part of the building to which they are attached, 
ranging in height from single storey elements to 3 storey extensions.  

 
75. Following the topography of the site the extensions to the east 

(bedroom extensions and leisure and spa facilities) are generally over 3 
levels, while the function room and restaurant extensions are on one 
floor but step up to meet the higher levels to the west.  The extensions 
to the meeting rooms and enhanced hotel entrance are single storey, 
as is the tennis pavilion. 

 
76. It is considered that the proposals respect the scale of the existing hotel 

building and would not be overly dominant.  As such it is considered 
that the proposals would give rise to an acceptable form of 
development with respect to scale. 

 

26



 

Landscaping 
 
77. The proposal would require the removal of 44 individual trees, 2 groups 

of trees and the partial removal of 5 further groups of trees.  Of these 
trees 5 need to be removed due to their poor condition, irrespective of 
any development proposals.  The hotel grounds are to be re-
landscaped and the proposed landscaping plans show over 100 new 
trees being planted within the hotel grounds as part of these proposals.  
The new trees would be a mix of flowering trees, native trees and 
conifers. 

 
78. Trees have been consulted on the application and raise no objection to 

the loss of the trees, stating that the trees that are to be retained 
adjacent to the development provide a valuable screen between the 
hotel and neighbouring properties. 
 

79. In commenting on the original submission Landscape requested some 
clarification regrading hard landscaping and which tree species are to 
be provided where.  In addition Biodiversity requested that the new 
indigenous hedgerow contain 10 different species.  Amended plans 
have been submitted to address these comments and they are currently 
being considered.  Members will be updated at committee. 

 
80. It is considered therefore that subject to the amended plans 

satisfactorily addressing these points it should be possible to ensure 
that the proposals would give rise to an acceptable form of 
development with respect to landscaping. 

 
Residential Amenity 
 
81. The proposed extensions to the hotel building are over 95m from the 

nearest existing dwelling and over 40m from the nearest proposed 
dwelling on the wider Boorley Park development.  It is considered that 
this would be a sufficient separation distance to ensure that there would 
not be a significantly detrimental impact on residential amenities.  The 
relocated tennis courts would be over 65m from the nearest existing 
dwelling but a 10m green buffer is proposed on the site boundary and 
there is already existing vegetation on the boundary helping to screen 
the site.  No floodlighting is proposed as part of this application and a 
condition can be attached to ensure that should the hotel wish to install 
any in the future, details would need to be submitted and approved. 

 
82. The original submission showed the east-west pedestrian/cycle path 

through the site running in close proximity to the boundary of Braxells 
Lodge.  The amended plans now show a 10m green buffer between the 
path and the boundary of Braxells Lodge.  It is considered that with 
appropriate landscaping this buffer will be sufficient to ensure there 

27



would not be a significantly detrimental loss of residential amenities for 
the occupiers of Braxells Lodge. 

 
83. In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development 

would not have a significantly detrimental impact on residential 
amenities. 

 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
84. Drainage conditions were attached to the outline planning permission 

and a strategic drainage framework has already been submitted and 
approved under those conditions.  A revised flood risk assessment and 
drainage report have been submitted and are currently being 
considered.  The revised information confirms that the hotel extension 
will be connected to the new Botley trunk sewer via an on-site pumping 
station and the new sewers within the proposed residential 
development.  It also confirms that the on-site SUDs facilities will be 
maintained by a private management company. 

 
85. Although not part of this reserved matters application the supporting 

information also confirms that the hotel is scheduled to undergo internal 
renovation that will include water efficiency measures such as low/dual 
flush W.C’s, showers with a maximum flow of 6 litres/min, baths with a 
maximum capacity of 140 litres, automatic shut-off taps in public areas, 
rainwater harvesting system to provide at least 25% of w.c/urinal 
flushing demand, domestic size washing machines, water usage 
monitors and a leak detection system.  While these elements cannot be 
secured as part of any planning approval they should reduce the foul 
water from the hotel by 40% compared to the existing rates. 

 
86. As this application is for reserved matters approval it cannot be refused 

on grounds related to the detail of the drainage proposals as this is 
covered by the conditions on the outline planning permission; however 
it is necessary at this stage to conclude that there is enough room on 
site to accommodate the necessary sustainable drainage system and 
the required stages of filtration.  In commenting on the original 
submission Biodiversity stated that further stages of filtration were 
needed in the surface water drainage strategy.  The amended 
information is currently being considered and Members will be updated 
at committee.   

 
Ecology 
 
87. The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has requested some amendments to 

the proposed landscaping to ensure appropriate species are used and 
asked for confirmation of which trees are to be removed and whether 
they have been assessed for bat roost potential.  A revised 
arboricultural impact assessment and amended landscaping proposals 
have been submitted and are out for consultation.  Members will be 
updated at committee. 

28



Other material considerations 

 
88. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 

2029, July 2014. The Submitted Local Plan has not been formally 
withdrawn and therefore remains a material planning consideration.  
Whilst the weight that can be attributed to the policies in it is very 
limited, it nevertheless represents the most recent statement of the 
Council’s development strategy for the borough. As mentioned above 
this plan includes the site as a draft allocation for housing and 
associated facilities; however as outline planning permission is already 
granted the only issues to be considered with this application are 
matters of appearance, layout, scale and landscaping. With regards to 
these matters, the new policies essentially echo those of the current 
plan and are not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 
 
89. Subject to some amendments to the proposed scheme, as outlined 

above and the satisfactory completion of consultations this reserved 
matters scheme is considered to conform to the parameters identified at 
the outline permission stage and would be an acceptable form of 
development meeting the necessary standards.  Reserved matters 
approval is therefore recommended. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



 
 
 
 
 
 

30



12/06/2017 
______________________________________________________________ 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR DECISION 

 
HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY Monday 12 June 2017 
Case Officer: Gary Osmond 
 
SITE:  Land Adjacent 87 High Street, West End, Southampton,  
  SO30 3DS 
 
Ref. F/17/80280 Received: 22/03/2017  
 
APPLICANT:  Mr I Majid 
 
PROPOSAL:  Construction of 2no. two bedroom and 2no. three 
   bedroom flats over two floors with undercroft  
   parking, bin and cycle storage and new access onto 
   High Street. 
 
AMENDMENTS: 26/05/2017 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
PERMIT 
 
Subject to the receipt of developers’ contributions towards the Solent 
Disturbance Mitigation Project.  

 

 
 

CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 
with the following plans numbered: 01 Rev C, 10 Rev B, 16 Rev A, 36 Rev A & 
95.  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
(2) The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 
from the date of this decision.  
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
(3) No development shall start until the following details have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
a) Details of the materials and finishes to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the building; 
b) Details of roof parapet construction and coping; 
c) Details of balcony and roof terrace balustrades and finishes; 
d) Detailing of junction between brick and render finishes between first and 
second floors; 

31

Agenda Item 8



e) Details of glazing and rainwater goods - colour and finish; 
f) Details of ceiling finish to undercroft parking area and lighting; 
g) Details of the surface finish of retaining walls; and 
h) Details of hard and soft landscaping to cover all surfacing and planting. 
The development shall not be occupied until the approved details have been 
fully implemented unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure a high quality development and limit the impact the 
development has on the locality. 
 
(4) No work shall commence on site until the following has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
a) Report of preliminary investigation comprising a Desk Study, Conceptual 
Site Model and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting previous and 
existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in accordance with national 
guidance as set out in Contaminated Land Reports Nos. 11 CLR11, and 
BS10175:2011+A1 2013 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites Code 
of Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
b) A report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions of the site 
and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the 
Preliminary Investigation in accordance with BS10175:2011+A1 2013 and 
BS8576:2013, and, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
c) A detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures to be 
undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the site is 
developed and proposals for future maintenance a and monitoring. Such a 
scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to oversee the 
implementation of the works. 
Reason: To ensure that potential contamination is suitably investigated and 
dealt with. 
 
(5) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/brought into use 
until there has been submitted to the local planning authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of the above condition 4(c) 
that any remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of 
the above condition 4(c) has been implemented in full in accordance with the 
approved details (unless varied with the written permission of the local 
planning authority in advance of implementation). Unless agreed in writing with 
the local planning authority such verification shall comply with the guidance 
contained in CLR11 and EA guidance for the safe development of housing on 
land affected by contamination - R&D Publication 66:2008. Typically such a 
report would comprise: 
a) A description of the site and its background, and summary of relevant site 
information; 
b) A description of the remediation objectives and redial works carried out; 
c) Verification data including - sample locations/ analytical results, as built 
drawings of the implemented scheme, photographs of the remediation works 
in progress, etc.; and 
d) Certificates demonstrating that imported and /or material left in situ is free 
from contamination. 
Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with 
the approved scheme under condition 4(c).  

32



 
Reason: To ensure that potential contamination is suitably investigated and 
dealt with. 
 
Note to Applicant: The applicant should be advised that in advance of the 
commencement of development the condition requires that the assessment be 
completed and approved. Also that as a result of the assessment, 
amendments to the design of building structures may be required, further that 
adequate provision of time needs to be made so the assessment can be 
completed before works commence on site. Further information and advice 
about developing ‘Brownfield land’ can be found on the Council’s website. The 
relevant web-page is entitled ‘Development of Brownfield Land’. 
 
(6) No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement which shall include: 
a) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and 
plant storage areas used during demolition and construction; 
b) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any damage to the 
highway; 
c) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
d) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition 
and construction; 
e) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and 
construction activities (to include piling); 
f) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; 
g) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and 
construction; 
h) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; and 
i) protection of pedestrian routes during construction. 
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the 
locality. 
 
(7) Development shall not commence until a Construction Management 
Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority covering the application site and any adjoining land which will be 
used during the construction period. such a strategy shall include details of 
cranes and other tall construction equipment (including details of obstacle 
lighting). Such schemes shall comply with Advice Note 4 'Cranes and Other 
Construction Issues' (available at 
www.aoa.org.uk/publications/safeguarding.asp ). The approved strategy (or 
any variation approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority) shall be 
implemented in full for the duration of the construction period.  
Reason: To ensure that construction work and construction equipment on the 
site and adjoining land does not breach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS) 

33



surrounding Southampton Airport and endanger aircraft movements and the 
safe operation of the aerodrome.  
 
(8) No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during 
the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 
 
(9) No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 
shall take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 
 
(10) No driven pilling shall take place on the development hereby permitted.  
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the nearby properties. 
 
(11) Prior to the occupation of the development or, in accordance with a 
timetable to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, as built 
stage SAP data and as built stage water calculator confirming energy 
efficiency and the predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: 
a) In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of 
dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013 Building 
Regulations; and 
b) In respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal mains water 
consumption of 105 litres/person/day. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with 
the approved details.  
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across 
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial 
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities 
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the Government's 
intentions in the statement and not set conditions with requirements above a 
Code level 4 equivalent. 
 
(12) The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
car park has been constructed, surfaced and marked out in accordance with 
the approved plan. The approved parking area shall not thereafter be used for 
any purpose other than the turning, parking, loading and unloading of vehicles.  
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway 
safety. 
 
(13) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the bin & 
cycle storage has been constructed in accordance with the approved drawings 
and thereafter retained and kept available for these purposes.  
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on-site facilities. 
 
(14) All windows on the northern rear elevation of the development hereby 
approved shall either be obscure glazed to Pilkingtons level 3 or equivalent 

34



with no opening parts less than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the room/s 
which they serve OR be positioned at least 1.7 metres above the floor of the 
room in which it is/they are installed. Once installed the windows shall be 
permanently maintained in that condition.  
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential 
properties. 
 
Note to Applicant: This permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. An 
application for the new access, relocation of the lamp post and/or road 
opening permit should be obtained from Hampshire County Council at 
Hampshire County Highways Jacobs Gutter Lane, Totton, Southampton, 
Hampshire, SO40 9TQ. Tel: 0845 603 5633. E-mail: roads@hants.gov.uk 
Website: www.hants.gov.uk/transport/parking/dropped kerbs 
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



Report: 
 

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Asman, 
Boulton and Clarke. 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. The application seeks consent for the construction of a block of four 

flats (2No. two bedroom and 2No. three bedroom) over two floors with 
undercroft parking, bin and cycle storage, with a new access from High 
Street, following demolition of the existing disused garage block. 

 
Site Area 

 
2. Approximately 300 square metres giving a housing density of 130 

dwellings per hectare. 
 

Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment 
 

3. The application site itself is relatively flat and level with no real planting 
or trees. However, while fairly flat it is cut into the natural topography in 
the immediate area which slopes steeply down in a westerly direction. 
The south-western corner and western edge of the site are the only 
points where it is level with High Street, with the flank wall of the 
neighbouring building forming the boundary. The northern boundary, 
which backs onto the rear boundaries of properties in Severn Way, has 
a ground level around 3.5 metres higher and is marked by a retaining 
wall with 1.8 metre high close board fence above. The eastern 
boundary adjacent to the former telephone exchange is approximately 
3.0 – 3.5 metres higher and again marked by a retaining wall. The 
southern boundary onto High Street is marked by a brick retaining wall 
with the pavement rising by around 2.5 metres across the site frontage 
following the natural topography of the area. 

 
Site Characteristics & Character of Locality 

 
4. The application site is a small block of disused garages and associated 

gravel parking area, accessed via layby parking adjacent to the High 
Street. The northern and eastern boundaries are dominated by 
retaining walls, with the two storey flank wall of the neighbouring 
building being the predominant feature of the western boundary. The 
only open boundary is to the south and onto High Street. 

 
5. It is presumed that the garages were originally built to serve the 

neighbouring shops and flats to the west of the site but were sold off a 
number of years ago and have remained out of use since. During which 
time they have fallen into a state of disrepair, with the site becoming 
somewhat of an eyesore and now used to store bins and by fly tippers. 

 

36



6. The site sits towards the eastern end of the commercial section of High 
Street, which itself has a range of commercial and retail uses, as well 
as residential dwellings and flats. Opposite the site to the south is 
Westwood Court, a relatively recent flatted development, with its own 
parking. To the north is Severn Way, a cul-de-sac of detached 
bungalows on higher ground. To the east is the former telephone 
exchange which is now used as a hair dressers and beauty salon and 
to the west is a parade of shops including a convenience store, most of 
which have flats above. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
7. A similar application to that now being considered was submitted last 

year (Ref: F/16/79636), albeit a differing design but was withdrawn in 
January 2017. Prior to this the only other planning application relating to 
the site was in 2008 for the construction of a two storey office building 
with associated parking and pedestrian access (Ref: F/08/62796) 
approved in July that year but never implemented. 

 
Representations Received 

 
8. At the time of writing a total of three representations have been 

received which raise the following issues, concerns and objections: 
 

 Overlooking of Severn Way. 

 Parking. 

 Concerns that the development would be noisy. 

 Must ensure that the gap between the proposed and existing 
building is sufficient to continue to be used as a fire escape route. 

 Would not be good for the village. 
 

Consultation Responses 
 

9. Head of Environmental Health – No objection in principle but the 
development has the potential to be impacted by noise and 
contaminants in the ground. As no information was submitted with the 
application conditions relating to a contamination investigation and 
noise assessment, together with amenity protection conditions are 
recommended. 

 
10. Hampshire Highways – No objection in principle. The proposed new 

access will require separate consent from HCC for a new dropped kerb 
and to reposition a lamp post. A condition requiring the existing access 
to be closed up to vehicular traffic is recommended. 

 
11. The proposed bin store is close to the highway and will allow easy 

access for operatives. At present the site appears to be used for bin 
storage relating to the neighbouring properties. Side and rear access 
for these units will need to be maintained. Storage of bins on the 
footway would not be acceptable. 

37



 
12. Proposed on-site parking appears workable with sufficient room to 

manoeuvre but EBC may wish to check against their parking standards 
to ensure the quantum is acceptable. If there is a shortfall then it would 
be prudent to increase cycle parking provision. 

 
13. Given the development is under ten units transport contributions cannot 

be requested but it may be necessary to secure monies towards the 
implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) in the local vicinity 
to prevent residential use during the day. 

 
14. Southampton Airport – No objection provided conditions regarding the 

use of cranes during construction, the overall height of the building and 
the nature of landscaping used in relation to its height. 

 
15. West End Parish Council – Objection. Not in keeping with the 

surrounding area. 
 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Mixed Use Area 

 Adjacent to designated West End Shopping Area 
 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan 
Policies 

 
16. Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 

 

 25.NC – Nature Conservation 

 28.ES – Bin Storage 

 31.ES – Noise Sensitive Development 

 34.ES – Energy and Climate Change 

 35.ES – Land Contamination 

 59.BE – Good Design 

 72.H – Housing Densities 

 100.T – Transport 

 102.T – New Vehicular Access 

 104.T – Parking 

 191.IN – Developer’s Contributions 
 

17. Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: 
 

 DM1 – General criteria for new development 

 DM2 – Environmentally sustainable development 

 DM7 – Pollution 

 DM9 – Nature conservation 

 DM23 – General development criteria – transport 

 DM24 – Parking 

38



 DM25 – Residential development in urban areas 

 DM29 – Internal space standards for residential development 

 DM37 – Funding infrastructure 
 

18. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; 
and the Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the 
Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 
2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (March 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 
(January 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 
2008, updated 2010) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) supports and 

encourages sustainable development which is considered to have three 
roles, economic, social and environmental. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF 
states that “These roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because 
they are mutually dependent. Economic growth can secure higher 
social and environmental standards, and well-designed buildings and 
places can improve the lives of people and communities. Therefore, to 
achieve sustainable development, economic, social and environmental 
gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning 
system. The planning system should play an active role in guiding 
development to sustainable solutions.” 

 
20. Paragraph 14 of the NPPF sets out the “presumption in favour of 

sustainable development” in both plan-making and decision-taking. 
 

21. Paragraph 17 sets out twelve core principles that underpin the planning 
system, one of which is that planning should “always seek to secure 
high quality design and good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings”. 

 
22. Paragraph 49 states that, “Housing applications should be considered 

in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered 
up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year 
supply of deliverable housing sites.” 

 
23. Paragraph 56 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that 

“The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

39



environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to 
making places better for people.” 

 
24. Paragraph 60 states that “policies and decisions should not attempt to 

impose architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not stifle 
innovation, originality or initiative…” It goes on to state that “It is, 
however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.” 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  

 
25. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 

consideration of planning applications.  
 

Policy Commentary 
 

26. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against 
which this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the 
relevant planning policies and principle of development; the layout and 
design of that proposed and its impact upon the street scene and 
character of the surrounding area; the impact upon the residential 
amenity of neighbouring properties and other neighbouring uses; 
parking and highway matters; land contamination and noise, 
environmental sustainability; and nature conservation. 

 
Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations 
Received 

 
27. A response to the majority of issues raised is given below in the main 

body of the report. With regards to maintaining a suitable fire escape 
route for the neighbouring unit, No.87, a suitably wide pedestrian 
passageway between the existing and proposed buildings is retained 
for use as an escape route. This can also be used, together with an 
existing passageway to provide access to the rear of the existing 
neighbouring properties where their bins should be stored. 

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 

28. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
states:- 

 
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise." 

 
29. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Policy & Principle 

40



 
30. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle 

of development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal 
planning approval being based upon the exact nature, design and 
impact of that proposed being considered appropriate and in 
accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies and Supplementary 
Planning Documents. The most relevant policy in this case is saved 
Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan which requires development to take full 
and proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape 
design, a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists 
and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse and cycle storage and 
avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss 
of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes. Also of relevance is 
Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, 
July 2014, which essentially reiterates the above requirements. 

 
31. Also of relevance in this instance are saved Policies 31.ES and 35.ES 

which relate to noise sensitive development and land contamination. 
Policy 31.ES states that where new residential development may be 
impacted by noise, development will only be permitted if it can be 
demonstrated that suitable mitigation can be achieved. Policy 35.ES 
states that development will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated 
that where the development may be impacted by suspected 
contamination that suitable mitigation measures can be implemented. 

 
32. Of particular relevance is saved Policy 72.H, which relates to housing 

densities. This states that “In areas which are close to good public 
transport provision and from where shops, schools and other facilities 
which meet day to day needs are easily accessible, the Council will 
expect the net residential developments to achieve the maximum 
residential density compatible with the protection of reasonable 
residential amenity up to or beyond 50 dwellings per hectare if 
appropriate.” 

 
33. Given the site’s very close proximity to West End centre and the shops 

and facilities which that provides, thereby making the site very 
sustainable, the principle of a higher density residential scheme is 
acceptable. However, the granting of any planning permission will be 
dependent upon the exact details and impact of that proposed being 
considered to accord with the relevant saved policies of the adopted 
Local Plan and Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
Layout, Design, Street Scene & Area Character 

 
34. As set out above, the application proposes the construction of four flats 

(2No. two bedroom and 2No. three bedroom) over two floors with 
undercroft parking beneath. A new vehicular access directly onto High 
Street is proposed which would drop down a ramp to the parking area 

41



and where secure bin and cycle storage is also located. A separate 
pedestrian access to the western side of the site would be provided to 
save the need to access through the parking area. 

 
35. Each of the first and second floors would consist of a pair of two and 

three bedroom flats. All have their main living spaces facing south onto 
High Street and all have their own private balcony or terrace. 

 
36. The form of the building steps up the slope following the topography of 

the land and rhythm of development along the street, being higher than 
No.87 to the west but lower than No.89 to the east. The front elevation 
of the building also gradually steps out towards the street, thereby 
providing visual interest and helping to break up its overall bulk. A 
further design feature which helps to break up the bulk of the building is 
to set the top floor back from the main front elevation and to visually 
lighten it through the use of white render, with the remainder of the 
building being finished in facing red-brown brick to reflect surrounding 
neighbouring development. 

 
37. While obviously very different to what is currently on site and quite 

different in design to the vast majority of existing development along 
this stretch of High Street, that proposed is nonetheless considered to 
be a good quality design which makes the most of the awkward site 
constraints whilst being respectful to the general form, scale and 
appearance of existing development along the street. The previously 
withdrawn application was reviewed by the Winchester and Eastleigh 
Design Review Panel who while not critical of the original design in 
principle did put forward a number of suggestions which would greatly 
improve the design. These suggestions have been brought through to 
this latest proposal and have resulted in a much better, more efficient 
and more appropriate scheme which it is considered will complement 
and enhance the street scene. 

 
38. Some concern has been expressed that the development would not be 

good for the village or fit in with surrounding development. The existing 
site has been disused for many years and is in a poor state of repair. It 
is currently used by neighbouring units to store their bins, despite the 
occupiers of these properties not being entitled to do so, and has 
previously be used for illegal fly tipping and dumping of rubbish. The 
site does nothing to enhance the visual appearance of the street and 
has been somewhat of an eyesore for many years. Various informal 
development proposals have been put forward over the years but only 
one other scheme has ever been formally submitted and approved. 
This is due to the rather difficult constraints of the site: its small size 
making it unsuitable for conventional residential housing as insufficient 
usable external amenity space or off-road parking can be provided; 
together with the need for significant but costly engineering works which 
put a strain on the financial viability of and development proposals for 
the site. 

 

42



39. The scheme now submitted is considered to be an acceptable balance 
in terms of what can reasonably be achieved on site whilst being 
respectful to the visual amenity and character of the area, and being of 
a scale in terms of unit number which would actually make the 
development viable. It also follows the requirements of saved Policy 
72.H which requires development to be of higher density when in 
sustainable locations such as this. Overall therefore, this amended 
scheme is considered to have adequately addressed the main concerns 
of the Design Review Panel and to accord with the design requirements 
of saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan, as well as the 
Council’s ‘Quality Places’ Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
40. When considering residential amenity there are two main areas to take 

into account, the impact of the proposed development upon existing 
neighbouring uses and occupiers, and the amenity and quality of 
environment for future occupiers of the development. 

 
41. The only amenity concern raised by those who have commented on the 

application is overlooking of properties in Severn Way to the north. 
Severn Way sits around 3.5 metres higher than the level of the 
application site, meaning that only the top floor and a small part of the 
first floor rear elevation would be visible above the fence line. This rear 
elevation does include a number of windows but these serve 
bathrooms, landing or are secondary bedroom windows, meaning that 
all can be obscure glazed or positioned above eyelevel without 
impinging upon the amenity of future occupiers of the development. It 
also means that the privacy of neighbouring properties in Severn Way 
would also be protected. 

 
42. In terms of loss of light and outlook, while that proposed would 

obviously be higher than the present fence line and to the south of 
Severn Way, with a distance of 14 metres between the rear elevation of 
that proposed and the nearest Severn Way dwellings (Nos.13 & 14) 
there would be no loss of light to either of these properties. Equally, 
while the view from the rear of these properties would obviously change 
considerably, in planning terms there would be no detrimental impact 
upon their outlook. 

 
43. With regards to other neighbouring uses and properties, it is not 

considered that the proposed development would result in any 
unacceptable harm due the proximity, topography, relationship and 
design of that proposed to its neighbours. 

 
44. In relation to the amenity of future occupiers of the development, the 

proposed flats are fairly generous in area and make best use of the 
site’s southerly aspect by ensuring that main habitable space is to the 
site frontage or through clever design details which direct window 
views. This also ensures that all main rooms have a reasonable outlook 

43



and a good level of natural light. All four flats have their own private 
external amenity space, again facing south towards High Street. Not 
only would this take advantage of the sun but will also help to provide 
interest and activity to the street scene. Considering the difficult and 
tight constraints of the site, it is considered that the proposal would 
result in a good quality living environment for future occupiers. 

 
45. A further amenity issue to consider is that of neighbouring uses and 

occupiers during construction. Construction by its nature will result in a 
degree of disturbance and inconvenience for neighbouring uses. That 
being the case, amenity protection conditions in relation to working 
hours, contractor parking and the need for a construction method 
statement have all been recommended should the application be 
approved. This will be particularly important given the difficulties of 
construction which will need to be addressed given the very constrained 
nature of the application site. 

 
46. Overall therefore in terms of amenity, it is considered that the proposed 

development accords with the amenity requirements of saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan and the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Parking & Highway Matters 

 
47. High Street has long had parking issues due to a limited number of 

spaces having to be shared between businesses and residents. It is 
important therefore that any new development does not add to these 
existing problems. While this is the case, it is the need to provide 
sufficient on-site parking which has been one of the main reasons why 
it has proved difficult to develop the site, principally due to a lack of 
space – i.e. by the time parking has been provide there is insufficient 
space to build and vice versa. The development now proposed 
overcomes this problem by locating all parking under the building and 
placing the habitable accommodation on the upper floors. This is an 
expensive solution and one that is not found elsewhere along High 
Street, but in this instance is considered to be the only realistic solution 
to the problem. 

 
48. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) ‘Residential 

Parking Standards’ requires a minimum of two allocated off-road 
spaces for each two or three bedroom property. This number can be 
reduced when parking is unallocated. However, unallocated parking on 
a development of this small scale is unrealistic and unlikely to work. 
The proposal would provide seven on-site spaces, and a total of eight 
secure cycle storage spaces. An eighth car parking space could be 
provided if more ground were to be removed in the north-eastern corner 
but this would likely result in harm to a tree in a neighbouring garden, 
which while not subject to any tree preservation order is nonetheless 
protected by virtue of being a third party tree. While the seven spaces 
proposed would be under the minimum requirements for allocated 

44



parking set out by the parking standards SPD, the site’s location is very 
sustainable in planning terms and at only one space less than the usual 
SPD requirement, it is not considered that this would be a sufficient or 
reasonable grounds on which to refuse the application. 

 
49. Equally, it is for this reason that it is not considered reasonable or 

necessary for monies to be secured towards a Traffic Regulation Order 
(TRO), as has been requested by Hampshire Highway’s consultation 
response. Were the development to be significantly under providing in 
terms of parking provision and therefore very likely to add to existing 
parking problems along High Street, then the provision of monies 
towards a TRO may well be reasonable in planning terms. However, in 
this instance the proposed development is only one space short of the 
usual parking standards and it would be unfair and unreasonable to 
force this small scheme to pay for a possible TRO to overcome existing 
parking problems which are not of its making. 

 
50. With regards to other highway matters, such as the provision of the new 

vehicular access, no objection has been raised to its position and no 
highway safety issues have been highlighted. The existing dropped 
kerb is to be retained in order to allow easier servicing of the bins by 
operatives and the secure cycle storage provision has been increased 
as requested by the Hampshire Highway’s consultation response. 

 
51. In terms of parking and highway matters the development is considered 

to accord with saved Policies 28.ES, 59.BE, 100.T, 102.T and 104.T of 
the adopted Local Plan, as well as the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ and 
‘Residential Parking Standards’ Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
Land Contamination & Noise 

 
52. Concerns have been raised by the Head of Environmental Health that 

given the current use of the site as garages and parking court, together 
with the unknown previous uses of the site, that there may be ground 
contamination present. As such it has been requested that conditions 
requiring a site investigation and report to be submitted prior to works 
commencing, to include details of any remediation measures should 
they be necessary be included. Given the sensitive end use proposed, 
this is considered to be a reasonable request and would accord with the 
requirements of saved Policy 35.ES of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
53. It has also been requested that a condition requiring a noise 

assessment be submitted prior to commencement to demonstrate 
whether occupiers would be impacted by traffic noise and if so what 
mitigation measures, potentially including acoustic glazing and 
mechanical ventilation may be required. It is acknowledged that the 
application site is adjacent to High Street, which is a reasonably busy 
road. However, while fairly busy in a local context, it is not a major 
through route and does not carry the quantity of traffic throughout the 
day which would warrant the need for a full detailed noise assessment 

45



to be completed. Traffic noise for residential properties along High 
Street is not known to be a current problem and ultimately those who 
would choose to live here will be clearly aware of the proximity to and 
relationship with High Street. It is not therefore considered necessary in 
this instance to insist upon a full noise assessment to be submitted or 
for mechanical ventilation to be installed, especially when these are 
matters better dealt with through Building Regulations. As such the 
application is considered to meet the necessary requirements of saved 
Policy 31.ES of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
Environmental Sustainability 

 
54. The Council’s ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ SPD requires 

all new dwellings to meet a minimum of code level 4 of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes together with a number of other mandatory 
requirements on water and energy conservation. However, the code 
has now been revoked with the intension that these requirements will 
be assessed by Building Regulations. Notwithstanding this, it is Council 
policy that any new dwellings must meet the equivalent of Code Level 4 
with regards to water and energy conservation. This would be secured 
via a planning condition. 

 
Nature Conservation 

 
55. The application site has no nature conservation designations and is not 

adjacent to any sites of interest or importance for nature conservation. 
While the site has been disused for many years, it is still predominantly 
hardstanding and built structures, therefore would have little or no 
potential for biodiversity habitat. 

 
Other Material Considerations: 

 
56. Reference needs to be made the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local 

Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014. However very little weight can be given to 
these policies as, although the Submission Local Plan has not been 
withdrawn the Council has confirmed that it has decided to prepare a 
new local plan which will cover the period up to 2036. With regards to 
this application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current 
plan and are not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Planning Obligations/Considerations 

 
57. The changes to the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) have 

increased the threshold for when tariff based planning obligations can 
be required by new development. This means that developments of ten 
units or less (and which have a maximum combined floor space of no 
more than 1000 square metres) will be exempt from the need to provide 
tariff based planning obligations or affordable housing. The proposed 
development in this instance falls within this threshold and as such no 
tariff based planning obligations can be requested. However, the site 

46



does fall within the 5.6km buffer zone for the Solent Disturbance 
Mitigation Project and as such a contribution will be required in order to 
help mitigated the increased recreational pressure upon the Solent 
complex as a result of the development proposed. The receipt of these 
monies will be a requirement of any planning approval. 

 
Conclusion 

 
58. This is an awkward and constrained site which has proven difficult to 

successfully develop. This lack of investment into the site has resulted 
in it becoming somewhat of an eyesore for High Street and the 
immediate surrounding area and if left in its current state will continue to 
be so for years to come. The application proposal submitted is 
considered to have successfully addressed and responded to the 
difficult site constraints, the Council’s supplementary planning guidance 
and policy requirements, whilst at the same time delivering a scheme of 
good quality design which will enhance and bring interest to the street 
scene and the surrounding area. As such the application is considered 
to sufficiently accord with the relevant saved policies of the adopted 
Local Plan, as well as the Council’s relevant Supplementary Planning 
Documents and is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 
receipt of the monies required for the Solent Disturbance Mitigation 
Project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



 
 

48


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Planning Application - Botley Park Hotel and Country Club, Winchester Road
	8 Planning application - Land Adjacent 87 High Street, West End

